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The murder of Chris Hani was the touch and go moment. This was the darkest night facing our country, but it was also the brightest moment. Every moment in the life of a nation can be seen either as the darkest moment or as the brightest moment. Usually both are present and it is our opportunity, by the way we respond, to determine what we make of it.


Mac Maharaj, African National Congress leader, freedom fighter and democracy negotiator


To make peace with an enemy, one must work with the enemy, and that enemy becomes your partner.


Nelson Mandela, Long Walk to Freedom













CAST OF CHARACTERS


This is the story of the nine days of political upheaval that started with the assassination of the popular ANC leader Chris Hani on 10 April 1993. Biographical details of the characters are as of 10 April 1993. For the latest biographical information, see the ‘Where Are They Now’ section.


ANC LEADERS:


NELSON MANDELA: President of the ANC. Released from prison by F. W. de Klerk in 1990 after twenty-seven years of incarceration


HARRY GWALA: Fiery ANC leader in KwaZulu-Natal, former Robben Island prisoner


BANTU HOLOMISA: Military leader of the Transkei ‘homeland’ and a close confidant of Mandela


GILL MARCUS: ANC spokeswoman


PETER MOKABA: President of the ANC Youth League


CARL NIEHAUS: ANC media manager


CYRIL RAMAPHOSA: ANC secretary general and lead negotiator in democracy talks


TOKYO SEXWALE: ANC leader in the Pretoria-Johannesburg-Vaal region


MONDLI GUNGUBELE: ANC leader in violence-racked East Rand area, deputy head of ANC ‘peace desk’, Chris Hani protégé



NATIONAL PARTY LEADERS:


F. W. DE KLERK: President of South Africa who became state president in September 1989 after ousting P. W. Botha, ‘Die Groot Krokodil’ (the Big Crocodile), who refused to end apartheid


HERNUS KRIEL: Minister of Law and Order in the final years of apartheid


ROELF MEYER: Minister of Constitutional Affairs and Communication, the government’s lead negotiator


GERT MYBURGH: Deputy Minister of Police


ADRIAAN VLOK: Minister of Prisons between 1991 and 1994, Minister of Law and Order between 1986 and 1991


THE CONSERVATIVE CIRCLE:


JANUSZ WALUŚ: Polish immigrant, member of the extremist Afrikaner Weerstandsbeweging (Afrikaner Resistance Movement) and the Conservative Party


CLIVE DERBY-LEWIS: Conservative Party member of parliament


GAYE DERBY-LEWIS: Propagandist for the Conservative Party and wife of Clive Derby-Lewis


SOUTH AFRICAN POLICE FORCE:


CAPTAIN NICOLAAS ‘NIC’ DEETLEFS: South African Police Security Branch member. Notorious for the torture of anti-apartheid activists


WARRANT OFFICER MIKE HOLMES: Lead detective assigned to the Hani assassination


CRAIG KOTZE: Police spokesman


GENERAL JOHAN VAN DER MERWE: National Police Commissioner from 1990 to 1995



OTHERS:


MUHAMMAD ALI: Former world heavyweight boxing champion, civil rights campaigner


RETHA HARMSE: Hani’s neighbour


PETER HARRIS: Head of the Wits-Vaal Regional Peace Secretariat, regional structure of the National Peace Accord (organisation formed in 1991 bringing together political leaders, police, business, civil society organisations and 15,000 ordinary South Africans who volunteered to monitor and mediate in volatile situations to keep the peace)


ARCHBISHOP DESMOND TUTU: Anti-apartheid cleric, Nobel Peace Prize laureate


PHUMELELE CIVILIAN HERMANS: An ANC member in the town of Port St Johns


RICHARD STENGEL: American writer working with Mandela on his auto-biography


ALASTAIR WEAKLEY AND GLEN WEAKLEY: White, politically progressive brothers holidaying in the Port St Johns area










ORGANISATIONS




	
ANC African National Congress: a South African liberation organisation formed in 1912 and led by Nelson Mandela between 1991 and 1997


	
AWB Afrikaner Weerstandsbeweging (Afrikaner Resistance Movement): a violent, extreme right-wing whites-only organisation


	
CODESA Convention for a Democratic South Africa: the negotiating forum of nineteen groups launched on 20 December 1991, almost two years after the unbanning of political parties and Nelson Mandela’s release, with the goal of overseeing a peaceful transition to democracy


	
COSATU Congress of South African Trade Unions: South Africa’s largest trade union federation, a political ally of the ANC


	
CP Conservative Party: a far-right political party formed in 1982 by Andries Treurnicht to preserve apartheid. It was the official opposition in the whites-only House of Assembly in the last seven years of minority rule


	
IFP Inkatha Freedom Party: a conservative Zulu nationalist cultural movement and political party


	
MK The popular nickname of the armed wing of the ANC, shortened from Umkhonto we Sizwe, meaning ‘Spear of the Nation’


	
MPNF Multi-Party Negotiating Forum: this successor to the CODESA negotiating forum held its first meeting on 1 April 1993, just days before the assassination of Chris Hani


	
NP National Party: a white Afrikaner nationalist party that instituted apartheid in South Africa and was in power from 1948 to 1994


	
PAC Pan Africanist Congress of Azania: an ANC splinter organisation; its armed wing was the Azanian People’s Liberation Army (APLA)


	
SACP South African Communist Party: a long-standing ANC ally with a very small membership but nevertheless huge influence on the ANC


	
SADF South African Defence Force: the South African army, navy and air force


	
SSC State Security Council: a government body comprised of security ministers. Established to determine South Africa’s national security policy and strategy, it allegedly morphed into the de facto cabinet of the country in the 1980s, operating secretly, violently and without accountability


	
TEC Transitional Executive Council: a multiparty body that oversaw the running of South Africa in the five months before the 27 April 1994 election – set up to ensure the fairness and freeness of the poll


	
TRC Truth and Reconciliation Commission: a body set up in 1996 to hear, record and investigate human rights transgressions during apartheid


	
UDF United Democratic Front: an organisation established in 1983 linking more than five hundred groups (from trade unions to churches) together in the struggle against apartheid













TIMELINE OF KEY EVENTS IN SOUTH AFRICA’S DEMOCRATIC TRANSITION 1990–1993


2 FEBRUARY 1990: President F. W. de Klerk unbans all liberation organisations


11 FEBRUARY 1990: Nelson Mandela is released from Victor Verster Prison outside Cape Town after twenty-seven years of incarceration


14 SEPTEMBER 1991: The apartheid government and eighteen other organisations – including trade unions, political organisations and churches – sign the National Peace Accord, committing themselves to a peaceful process of negotiation; political violence intensifies despite this


20 DECEMBER 1991: First session of democracy talks, named the Convention for a Democratic South Africa (CODESA), launched after two years of ‘talks about talks’


17 JUNE 1992: At least forty-five residents of Boipatong township are killed by two hundred to three hundred mainly Zulu-speaking residents of a male worker hostel affiliated with the Inkatha Freedom Party; the ANC accuses the South African Police of arming the attackers


20 JUNE 1992: Angered by the Boipatong Massacre, Nelson Mandela withdraws the ANC from the CODESA talks until the government takes steps to restore peace; he embarks on a programme of protest marches, work stayaways and pickets


7 SEPTEMBER 1992: Twenty-eight ANC supporters and one soldier are shot dead by the defence force of the nominally ‘independent’ homeland of Ciskei when the ANC marches on the Ciskei town of Bisho as part of its mass action campaign following the Boipatong Massacre


1 APRIL 1993: Democracy talks resume under the banner of the new Multi-Party Negotiating Forum, which includes a wider array of participants, including right-wing parties such as the Conservative Party and the Afrikaner Volksunie


10 APRIL 1993: Chris Hani, the most popular Black leader after Nelson Mandela, is murdered










PROLOGUE


They made us work on Holy Saturday because we were the rookies. I didn’t mind. I was twenty-two, a gangly kid from a South African backwater, and all I wanted to do was work.


The newsroom was empty when I walked into our offices on 47 Sauer St, Johannesburg, at 9 a.m. on Saturday, 10 April 1993. It was my first day as a reporter at one of the most prestigious English-language daily newspapers in South Africa, The Star. Over the next nine days I would end up witnessing the greatest story of my life. It was a story that would bring together a man who has been called the world’s last great hero, his fierce opponent, and a whole group of characters across the country’s political and racial divide to save the emerging new South Africa from collapse and civil war.


I wasn’t even a proper rookie. I was in the third month of my six-month training at the journalism programme run by the paper, a floor down from the newsroom where my heroes churned out thousands of words daily. Two days before, three of the twelve students had been called upstairs. The head of the journalism school and the editor of the weekend newspaper, the Sunday Star, told us to report for duty on the Saturday before Easter. We were to do the ‘donkey work’, as the senior journalists referred to it: hourly calls to the police to check for crime updates, answering the phone for tip-offs about political killings, and checking the wire feed for breaking news.


‘You won’t really be needed,’ said Chris van Gass, the gentle head of the journalism school, before heading off for a weekend of birdwatching. He was right. The Sunday Star ran big exclusive features, not trivial reports of murder. That was for the daily paper. Making crime calls for the Sunday Star was almost useless.


So, just after 10 a.m. on Holy Saturday I was sipping my tea and reading that day’s edition of the paper when the news editor rushed to my desk.


‘Get a car! Go out to Dawn Park now!’ she said, agitated. She was holding out a transport authorisation slip so I could get a vehicle from the car pool. I stared at her, waiting for a briefing.


‘Don’t just stand there!’ she said. ‘Chris Hani has been assassinated outside his home in Dawn Park!’


I went cold.


Chris Hani, the chief of staff of the military wing of Nelson Mandela’s African National Congress (ANC) and general secretary of the South African Communist Party (SACP), was no ordinary man. A recent survey had found he was the most popular Black leader in South Africa after Mandela himself. He was a hero in the townships, where young people would turn out in large numbers to hear him deliver fiery speeches. If my generation, already referred to as ‘the lost generation’ by sociologists because of our disrupted education and alleged hopelessness about the future, had a hero, it was this man. Charismatic, energetic, articulate, he had built a reputation as a brave guerrilla fighter during his twenty-seven years in exile. He was also loved by the intelligentsia, who were in thrall to his ability to discuss Marxism in one breath and Sophocles in the next.


He was hated by large swathes of white South Africa for his allegiance to communism and his uncompromising stand for racial justice. He helped direct the ANC’s armed struggle, infiltrating the country with guerrilla fighters from the organisation’s exile camps to set off attacks, like the bombing of the air force head office in Pretoria in 1983. Yet Hani was not a warmonger. He saw the possibility for a new South Africa, one within the grasp of freedom- and peace-loving citizens. In the months before that fateful Saturday, he had been a key member of Mandela’s team negotiating with the government to end apartheid and usher in non-racial democracy. He called for peace everywhere he spoke.


When the news editor told me Hani was dead, one thing was clear as the crisp blue autumn sky that day: the pain and the anger in the Black community would be deep, so deep that it might trigger a new racial war worse than the one Mandela and his comrades were trying to end.


The world was changing, and so was South Africa. In 1991, the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics had collapsed, bringing the Cold War to an end. The year before, after forty-two years of formal apartheid modelled on the US’s Jim Crow laws, talks had begun between Nelson Mandela’s ANC and the whites-only government led by President F. W. de Klerk to transform the country into a multiracial democracy. It was a time of hope after three decades in which the ANC had been banned, thousands of its leaders incarcerated or exiled, and those anti-apartheid activists still inside South Africa detained, tortured or disappeared. But the now three-year-old democracy negotiations had been slow, punctuated by bitter sectarian violence. For three years, South Africa had been in limbo, as talks progressed, reached stalemate or broke down completely. Political prisoners and exiles returned home, and yet the land they returned to was hardly freer than the one they’d left. Freedom was messy. And it was taking too long. In June 1992, as political violence escalated, the democracy talks were called off. Hope in the morning was followed by despair in the evening, with no sense of what the next day would bring.


Yet just nine days before the devastating news of Hani’s murder, the talks had been restarted and all sides once again had high hopes for progress. Now, with the assassination of Hani, the talks could very well collapse, with militants on both sides taking up arms again. Throughout that day, as the anger mounted and talk became loose, as right-wingers drove to the Communist Party head office in central Johannesburg and shot up its facade and their friends taunted Black people in the streets, my feeling of dread increased.


Like so many other Black South Africans, politics was my life. I was born at a Johannesburg gold mine where my father had worked himself up from underground labourer to wages clerk. We lived on the mine’s compound for Black families, hemmed in between the packed single-sex hostels of the Black labourers and separated from the white families of the mine managers. When I was two, we were kicked out because the apartheid government designated the land on which our home stood for ‘whites only’. Those notorious segregationist signs went up everywhere. We moved to the Blacks-only dormitory suburb of Soweto, the famous sprawl of townships to the south of Johannesburg. Four years later, on 16 June 1976, police shot and killed at least 176 schoolchildren protesting being taught in the language of their oppressor, Afrikaans. We lived a few streets down from Morris Isaacson High School, one of the three schools where the students began protesting. That evening my parents moved us to my aunt’s home in a small, impoverished rural village in the far north of South Africa, hoping that the state would leave us alone. Eight years later, my brother was in police detention for protesting against apartheid. All four of my siblings became ANC political activists.


The final three years of my schooling were disrupted by political protests. After a national state of emergency was declared in 1986 (there was a partial state of emergency in 1985, covering areas designated as volatile), more than 13,000 people, some as young as eleven, were detained without charge for a month or more in just the first six months. The release of Nelson Mandela and the unbanning of the ANC and other liberation organisations in 1990 gave us hope that apartheid was on the way out. Many young people like me had envisaged a future in which our entire lives would be overshadowed by apartheid. We could either work within its racial constraints, cowed and policed at every turn like our parents, or leave the country as exiles. Now, we believed freedom was coming. We could finally live. I applied for a job at The Star, my own small investment in a future people like me could believe in.


On 10 April 1993, the hope that I had for that future seemed naive. The streets convulsed with rage. That afternoon, I drove to Soweto with a photographer. Burning cars barricaded the road.


By nightfall, as I walked through the city back to the flat I shared with friends in the fast-changing flatland of Hillbrow – once a white neighbourhood, now increasingly Black – accounts of violence were spreading. Police reported that at least one man had been shot at one of the many impromptu gatherings to commemorate Hani. Residents said that three people had been killed. The ANC said another man had died fighting police. In the Strand, near Cape Town, an angry crowd had burnt to death two white men who had ventured into the Lwandle township. Similar reports came from across the country. On the radio, white callers were jubilant, saying Hani had lived by the sword and deserved to die by it. Leaders called for calm, yet the anger seemed to increase. So did the violence. Alone at the flat late that evening, I felt loneliness and dread. My roommates had all gone home to spend the long weekend with their families. One of them, Saul Molobi, had launched the first anti-apartheid organisation in my rural village. I wondered if it would be safe for him to return to Johannesburg.


Three decades have passed since Hani’s death, but every year, around Easter, I have thought about that day and those that followed. Today it may seem as if the defeat of apartheid was inevitable, but it was not. Extremists in De Klerk’s cabinet and in parliament armed hit men and galvanised paramilitary groups. There isn’t a point in South Africa’s transition to democracy when the country was as much on the edge of a return to all-out war as it was that week. The old forces of racism and segregation were refusing to die. People were prepared to set the country on fire to retain the apartheid system.


Mandela once told Richard Stengel, the American journalist who collaborated with him on his autobiography, that ‘the book that I would really like to do, after Long Walk [to Freedom], is a book about how close South Africa came to civil war’. The closest was in those days after the assassination of Chris Hani.


This is the story of that second week of April 1993. I have recreated the events of those days based on the words of the main actors – through their testimony in court, at the Truth and Reconciliation Commission, in writings, interviews and through original reporting of my own – as well as in the words of those around them. I wanted to write this story because, at a time when the world seems to be regressing to the divisions of the past and exhibiting selfish forms of leadership, Nelson Mandela and – to a lesser but important extent – F. W. de Klerk offer us lessons in how to listen, learn, collaborate and lead in a complex and perilous situation. Leadership matters. And ethical leadership – whether in corporate settings or schools or government – can be the difference between going to war and doing something much more difficult: making peace. Mandela and de Klerk, despite provocations, despite their own fears, failures, histories and doubts, chose the path of peace. I don’t know where South Africa would be today if they hadn’t.


Nelson Mandela is a hero. He’s revered across the globe. But we tend to forget that he was also human. One of his most famous quotes was a denunciation of the pedestal he had been put on: ‘I am not a saint, unless you think of a saint as a sinner who keeps on trying.’ In that week Mandela displayed human frailty: he prevaricated, he stalled, he was booed and he grieved. Yet he kept trying. That’s leadership: it’s messy, unglamorous, hard.


I also wanted to write about the dangers of hate and extremism. The story of what happened in 1993 reminds us that we dare not forget the danger they posed then, and pose today, to our present and our collective future. They are on the rise now, in South Africa, the United States, Europe, across the globe. Where once they operated in the shadows, the forces of illiberalism now sit in parliaments and in executive positions, pulling us to the extremes on any number of issues, from immigration to race, gender, health care, reproductive rights and so many others. The need for ethical, values-driven leadership such as that displayed by Mandela in that week has never been as urgent as it is today.


I grew up on stories told to me by my parents and my older brother, who introduced me to books that ranged from murder mysteries to political thrillers. The story of that week has always seemed to me like a political thriller unfolding in real life, full of complex heroes and awful villains and unpredictable twists. It’s a bloody good yarn. It’s worth telling.










EASTER SATURDAY


10 April 1993




Murder most foul, as in the best it is,


But this most foul, strange and unnatural.


Hamlet, Act 1, Scene 5





9 a.m.


Qunu village, Eastern Cape Province


Nelson Mandela walked faster. The lanky, tall former prisoner was seventy-five, but the younger men with him – four bodyguards and a thirty-eight-year-old American writer and former college basketball player, Richard Stengel, who was collaborating on his autobiography – were struggling with the pace set by the older man. It was always this way on walks with Mandela: slow at first, but by the end of the four hours he would be striding ahead, seemingly getting stronger and more energised, leaving his young companions huffing and puffing behind.


It had been a chilly morning when he had first emerged from his house at 5.05 a.m., but now the sun’s rays were strong and warm. The walk Mandela was taking had drawn a ‘long, lazy’ circle, Stengel would write two decades later in his book Mandela’s Way, through the gently undulating hills and yellowing autumn grass of the area. The six men were trudging along quietly, headed back to Mandela’s home now, when he stopped and pointed to the crest of a hill overlooking the village of Qunu, where he had grown up. He was pointing at the crumbling remains of a white brick building.


‘That was my first school,’ he told the men. It had consisted of a single room, with a Western-style roof, small windows on either side and a smooth mud floor. This was where, at seven years old, Mandela had started school, wearing his father’s trousers cut off at the knee. The length had been fine, the waist not so. His father had drawn the waist in with a piece of string. ‘I have never owned a suit I was prouder to wear than my father’s cut-off trousers,’ Mandela would write in later life.


This was the school where, on that first day, his teacher Miss Mdingane gave each of her pupils an English name. As Mandela explained it, whites were either unable or unwilling to pronounce an African name and considered it uncivilised to have one. It was therefore common practice at the time for children to be given a ‘Christian’ name by schoolteachers or priests when they got baptised. A ‘Christian’ name was one of the keys to getting ahead. And so, Mandela wrote, ‘that day, Miss Mdingane told me that my new name was Nelson. Why she bestowed this particular name upon me I have no idea. Perhaps it had something to do with the great British sea captain Lord Nelson, but that would only be a guess.’


The men inspected the old school building, then set off towards Mandela’s house, a country dwelling which fulfilled his belief that ‘a man should have a home within sight of the house where he was born.’ He hadn’t quite followed the maxim. Mandela had been born in the village of Mvezo, on the banks of the Mbashe River, about 32 kilometres to the south of Qunu. It was when a magistrate summarily stripped Mandela’s father of his chieftaincy following a dispute over an ox that he moved to Qunu with his mother. That was where he was raised, where he played and fought with other boys from the village.


Which is why, soon after being released from prison in February 1990, he started planning to build himself a house in Qunu. Two years later, the house was complete. It was not luxurious, and its genesis was an oddity for many, for it was based on the floor plan of the house Mandela had been incarcerated in during the final two years of his imprisonment, after being moved first from the notorious Robben Island prison, where he spent nearly twenty years of hard labour, to the equally infamous, violent Pollsmoor Prison in 1982. Six years later, Mandela had been moved again, this time to Victor Verster – a converted warden’s quarters. Many thought his Qunu house seemed like he had moved from that prison to another. He didn’t see it that way. ‘The Victor Verster house was the first spacious and comfortable home I ever stayed in, and I liked it very much,’ he would write. There was a certain convenience to it, too: ‘I was familiar with its dimensions, so at Qunu I would not have to wander at night looking for the kitchen.’


When the group of men made their way back to the red brick house around 9 a.m., there were about twenty people already there despite the early hour, half of them milling about outside. They were drop-in visitors, some hoping for food, others to meet the great man. Mandela greeted them amiably, then proceeded to the study with Stengel to work while waiting for their breakfast.


Like Mandela, most South African political leaders wanted to take a break from politics that weekend. The multiparty negotiations to end apartheid and introduce democracy had started with great optimism in March 1990. That was quickly dashed when political violence broke out across the country – starting with a massacre in Sebokeng that July in which twenty-seven people were killed by police. More than 9,000 people would be killed in political violence in the next three years. The negotiations had been halted by Mandela in June 1992. He was angry that the government was doing nothing to stop the political killings. After nine months of acrimony, the negotiations had restarted on 1 April 1993 – and the optimism of 1990 was back.


After the intensity of the previous nine months, the country seemed to have taken a collective break from political news for the weekend. So slim were the pickings that weekend that, in a country as obsessed as South Africa was with its own politics, most of the newspapers were following the events in Waco, Texas, where David Koresh, the leader of the Branch Davidians cult, and his supporters were in a standoff with police and the Federal Bureau of Investigation. The siege in Waco as it entered its forty-second day was covered by the newspapers as though it were a soap opera that the country needed as a respite from its own political news.


Mandela settled his slim frame – he had been a big, brawny boxer when he was first jailed in 1962 and at his conviction at the Rivonia Trial in 1964, but had returned in 1990 a thinner man – in his chair and continued to tell Stengel about his life and thoughts. A bodyguard came to the door twenty minutes later and announced that the Transkei police rugby team had popped in to greet him. Mandela had promised a colleague that he would see them, and so he unhooked his microphone, excused himself and walked outside, where he began to shake the hands of the massive rugby players, saying a few words to each one.


As he shook their hands, his housekeeper, Miriam, ran out to him. ‘Tata, Tata!’ she said, using the traditional Xhosa term, equivalent to ‘Father’, for an elder or respected man. This is how everyone referred to him in many settings, especially rural ones. Miriam was crying. She told him that there was an urgent phone call he had to take. Mandela excused himself and went back inside.


The person on the line was Barbara Masekela, the chief of staff in Mandela’s office. The sister of world-famous jazz musician Hugh Masekela, she had run the ANC’s administrative office in exile from Zambia in the early 1980s before becoming the head of the ANC’s department of arts and culture, which among other activities organised the global cultural boycott of South Africa that saw many international acts refuse to perform in the country. She joined Mandela’s personal team shortly after his release from prison and had been by his side through political turmoil and personal pain, including his divorce from his second wife, Winnie. Masekela was street smart (raised in the notoriously dangerous Alexandra township of the 1950s in a middle-class family). She was also an academic who had taught literature in the USA at Rutgers University and was a member of the ANC’s National Executive Committee in her own right. She had a tough job – keeping some distance between an adoring world and the globe’s most popular politician, who still had freedom and democracy to deliver to his people. She was often so worried about Mandela’s heavy schedule that she would not tell anyone except his closest circle about his whereabouts just so he would get some time off, she told me. She would not call on a weekend like this if it was trivial.


The news she was about to give Mandela that morning was possibly the worst she’d ever have to share.


Mandela loved Chris Hani, was fascinated by him. He regarded him as a fellow soldier and a patriot. This was a man Mandela saw at least once a week, a man in whom he saw the same anger and impatience that he himself felt when he was young. Mandela pointedly asked his aides to include Hani on his trips and meetings whenever the younger man was available. He recognised Hani as the great hero of the country’s angry and impatient youth. But his desire to keep Hani close went beyond practical considerations: he loved him like a son, Masekela told me.


Despite her own feelings of shock and sorrow, Masekela was in a sombre but controlled mood, the way she knew Mandela would want her to be. Theirs was an office run on professionalism: ‘we were not there for ourselves, we were there for a particular purpose’, as Mandela had said to her. So Masekela, whose bright smile can turn into a severe frown, said the words she knew would devastate Mandela: ‘Chris Hani has been assassinated.’


There was a long silence on the other end of the line. Then in a quiet, controlled voice, Mandela came back on.


‘Have you told Oliver?’


He was referring to Oliver Tambo, his former partner at their law firm in the 1950s and the man who had steered the ANC through twenty-nine years of exile as president after Mandela was jailed for life. Tambo was frail, having suffered a stroke in 1989, just four months before Mandela’s release from prison. Although Mandela had been elected ANC president in 1991 to replace the ailing Tambo, the two men spoke to each other almost every day and Mandela tried to consult him on every major issue.


‘No, I called you first,’ Masekela answered.


Mandela started issuing instructions. He told her to call Tambo and his other partner – Walter Sisulu, the man who recruited and signed him up to the ANC in the 1940s and with whom he had spent twenty-seven years in jail – and inform them. These two men were not just comrades to Mandela. Their associations were so deep they were like brothers.


‘Make sure you accompany Oliver to Chris’s place,’ he said.


He put the phone down, went outside and continued to greet the rugby players with a smile on his face. He had just lost a man he considered a son. He was grieving, but he needed to fulfil this obligation.


It was more than grief that the stoic man who went from one rugby player to the next felt, though. He was also deeply afraid of what the news of the murder of South Africa’s most popular anti-apartheid fighter – besides himself – might unleash across the land.


10 a.m.


Dawn Park, Boksburg, Johannesburg


The stalking of Chris Hani had started early that Saturday morning, just about the time Mandela had hit his stride as he walked through Qunu’s undulating hills.


The athletic-looking killer with blazing blue eyes and wearing a blue shirt had been warned that the entire Easter weekend was off-limits for the mission he had come to believe was his life’s purpose: to put a match to the tinderbox that was South Africa in 1993 and ignite a race war that would put a stop to all attempts to end apartheid. Janusz Waluś’s mentor, Clive Derby-Lewis, a Conservative Party member of parliament who had recruited him into the pro-apartheid movement, had drummed the warning into his head. It wasn’t that the chaos they would ignite by their deed would be any terrible thing. Chaos is what they desired. By their reckoning, the killing of Mandela’s protégé would trigger riots, murder and general mayhem. Intervention by the apartheid government’s hard-line generals would follow. The peace-making process between F. W. de Klerk, the president they viewed as ‘selling out’ whites and Afrikaners, and the ‘terrorist’ Mandela would be stopped. White supremacy would be reinstated in South Africa. It was a simple but perfect plan, thought Waluś. This was, after all, a country whose favourite expression among the whites he socialised with was ‘five minutes to midnight’; a doomsday scenario of the country ‘falling’ into Black hands and racial warfare breaking out was, they believed, fast approaching. Better to start that war now, while the whites still had the upper hand.


Hani’s murder would set the wheels of that plan in motion. Yet Waluś had been told repeatedly: not Easter weekend. There would be too many people in the neighbourhood, too many people at home and not at work in the factories around Boksburg, the industrial city just east of Johannesburg. Hani lived with his family in one of Boksburg’s residential suburbs, Dawn Park. Derby-Lewis had warned Waluś against action earlier that week, as he handed him a stolen Z-88 pistol and a silencer he’d had specially made in Cape Town. Waluś could be seen, identified and arrested during the Easter weekend, he had said. It was not a good time to start their own special war.


On the Tuesday before Easter, the two men had enjoyed breakfast in the Derby-Lewis’s dining room before they repaired to the study. Gaye, Derby-Lewis’s wife, had gone shopping, leaving Waluś with the man who was a leading light in far-right politics in South Africa. Derby-Lewis was born in the heart of South Africa, and though he had never been in the Royal Air Force, he liked to put on the quaint mannerisms (as depicted in comic books) of its upper-class officers, such as cultivating their favoured handlebar mustaches. He had a forced posh English accent, making him sound as if he were being asphyxiated whenever he got excited. In the study, he had showed Waluś the pistol, still in the manufacturer’s box. The silencer came with three rounds of subsonic ammunition.


Now, as he drove to the house of target number three on their hit list, that gun was in Waluś’s sports bag on the floor behind the passenger seat of his red Ford Laser. The list was fastidiously compiled by Gaye with the help of a journalist friend who shared her extremist beliefs.


Although it had started with nineteen names, the hit list had been whittled down to just nine individuals – enemies of the apartheid system or ‘sell-outs’ of the white race. Whether this was a hit list or not was to become a subject of contention in later years, with Gaye claiming the list had only been drawn up as part of research for a newspaper article. But the Truth and Reconciliation Commission settled the matter in 1999 when it found that ‘the names constituted a hit list compiled for the purpose of planning assassinations’. In 2000, the Cape High Court dismissed an application by Derby-Lewis and Waluś to overturn the Truth and Reconciliation Commission’s decision. In 2001, the Supreme Court of Appeal in Bloemfontein dismissed with costs their bid to challenge the Cape High Court’s dismissal of their earlier application.


At the top of the hit list was Mandela. Alongside his name was a picture of his house in the affluent suburb of Houghton, in Johannesburg, and an entire page of descriptions of the property’s security details. The second name on the list was that of Joe Slovo, the popular (among Blacks) general secretary of the South African Communist Party. Slovo was a lifelong fighter against apartheid. He had already lost a family member to political assassination; his activist wife, Ruth First, had been murdered while in exile in Mozambique by a parcel bomb sent by government agents in 1982. There was no address for Slovo on the hit list. The third person on the list was the man whose house Janusz Waluś was now heading to: Martin Thembisile ‘Chris’ Hani. He had picked his brother’s name Chris as a nom de guerre in exile, and the name had stuck. Waluś knew everything there was to know about his quarry’s home arrangements. He had been there five times before, casing the joint.


Waluś and his associates had already tried to go for the big prize: Mandela. Assassinating one of the world’s great icons would have led to the overwhelming chaos they desired. But Waluś had told Derby-Lewis, after one reconnaissance mission of Mandela’s house, that ‘the old goat was not worth it’. Security was tight in Houghton. As they couldn’t source an address for Slovo, he was out, too. It was Hani, then. Waluś and his associates believed there would be no need to continue going down the list once he was dead. The popular Hani’s murder would be enough to trigger the mayhem they wanted.


Waluś had not thought that the chance to kill Hani would present itself that morning as he got out of bed at his flat just below the Union Buildings complex – the seat of the South African government – in Pretoria. It was a beautiful day, with clear, bright-blue skies and a slight chill in the air that signalled the autumn in South Africa. Waluś had left a wife and daughter back home in Radom, in Poland. He followed his father and brother, Witold, to South Africa in 1981 as part of the thousands of Polish émigrés who took advantage of a government scheme to attract white anticommunist entrepreneurs and professionals to the country. His wife, Wanda, and their child, Ewa, had visited South Africa twice to try to make a life together, but it had not worked out. He now had a lover, Maria Ras. They had been together for ten years. She had taken Easter week off to spend time with him.


Waluś had told Ras that he was off to the Stan Schmidt School of Karate in Sandton to practise Shotokan karate, as he did every Saturday morning when he was not too hard up to pay the club fees. Things had been tough for Waluś lately. He’d been driving trucks and doing odd jobs, which was never how he’d pictured making a living at the age of forty. He, his father, Tadeusz, and his brother, Witold, had owned a glass-making factory that exploited Black workers and tax breaks available to whites and foreign firms in the Black ‘homeland’ of QwaQwa in the eastern Free State. Homelands were pieces of land designated as ‘independent countries’ by the apartheid government, to which it forcibly removed millions of Blacks from ‘white’ urban centres and fertile agricultural land. The factory had gone bust in 1989 when the generous government credits and incentives that had accrued to the business under apartheid were withdrawn, exposing the factory to global competitive forces.


Waluś drove from Pretoria to Johannesburg’s northern suburbs. He had dabbled in rally driving in his native Poland; there are reports he reached the national championships in 1977. Disappointment awaited him in Johannesburg. Most facilities were closed for Easter, including the Stan Schmidt School where he trained.


‘Don’t do it over the Easter weekend,’ he had been told again and again. That, he thought defiantly, did not preclude him from doing yet another recce. He had time. He turned his Ford round and pointed it towards nearby Corlett Drive, where there was a gun exchange shop. He bought twenty-five more rounds of the subsonic ammunition, specifically designed to reduce the crack sound of an ordinary bullet. If he did not have killing on his mind that Easter weekend, why did he buy extra ammunition that day?


Back in the car, the blond man put on a pair of gloves and loaded the gun. He wasn’t going to use the silencer because he knew by then that the specially commissioned piece of hardware didn’t work. He had discovered this when testing the gun at Witold’s farm in Pretoria. Witold had done well for himself by going into the army surplus business, buying and selling old military vehicles and other material, when the glass factory went belly up.


So, no silencer. It didn’t fit properly on the barrel and dislodged when fired, meaning that he’d have to fix it back on after each shot. He put the useless silencer and the gun in his sports bag on the floor behind the passenger seat. He also had a second gun, his registered, Czech-made CZ-75 9mm pistol. He put that next to him in a case on the passenger seat. He had a hunting knife strapped to his ankle and another knife in his back pocket.


For a man who was to later claim he did not intend to commit murder that day, Waluś was unusually methodical, displaying a carefulness unlike in his previous reconnaissance jaunts to Hani’s house, when he’d driven by without any attempts to cover up the stickers on the back bumper of his car. He drove to a hardware shop near the Stan Schmidt gym to get masking tape. Again, he was frustrated by the holidays: the shop was closed.


Then there were his registration plates. He couldn’t go to Hani’s house with the registration plates on the car. The car was registered in his boss’s name, the truck owner Peter Jackson. If anyone remembered the plate number, it would be over. One piece of white sticker tape that he had in the car did the trick. His registration number was PBX 231T. He stuck a crude ‘7’ over the ‘1’, and it held. It wasn’t ideal, but it was a change.


That’s when he turned the car towards Chris Hani’s house: Number 5 Hakea Crescent, Dawn Park, Boksburg, on the corner of Deon Street. Just to look. Just a recce.


Dawn Park wasn’t a place one would have expected a leading Black figure of the ANC and the South African Communist Party – the two organisations had an alliance pact that allowed for dual membership – to settle. When the apartheid government stopped enforcing segregatory laws in 1990 (they were formally repealed in June 1991), opening the white suburbs to Black homeowners, the neighbourhood had embarked on a mass campaign with the slogan ‘Keep Dawn Park White’. It hadn’t worked. The new Black middle class and returning ANC exiles had moved into the area steadily, thanks to real estate agencies that courted prospective Black homeowners prepared to pay handsomely for their new houses. The Hanis were among these pioneers, although not entirely by design. After returning from exile in Zambia, Hani’s wife, Limpho, a native of Lesotho, had been confused by the design of sprawling Johannesburg. So instead of ending up in the city proper, the couple and their three daughters had taken out a mortgage of around £26,000 and bought a rose brick house in Dawn Park.


Right-wing propaganda replayed itself in Waluś’s head as he drove east towards Dawn Park. The words he had heard at political rallies, like the one he had attended with Derby-Lewis back in 1990 – where the Conservative Party leader Andries Treurnicht had exhorted his followers that the ‘third freedom struggle had begun’ – echoed in his mind.


‘We have to do something,’ Waluś told himself. He’d been saying it for years now.


His uncle – a hunter – had given him shooting lessons when he was a boy of eleven. Even then he’d had an air gun that he used to shoot at target ranges. Over the previous few weeks he’d been practising with the Z-88 on Witold’s farm.


He was as ready as any assassin could be.





Chris Hani had woken up early and alone that day. His wife, Limpho, and their twelve-year-old daughter, Lindiwe, were visiting relatives in Lesotho. Their oldest daughter, Neo, was in Cape Town and he was at home with their fourteen-year-old daughter, Nomakhwezi.


He wasn’t big on breakfast, but he enjoyed a cup of tea first thing in the morning. He’d been gaining weight, so he pulled on his tracksuit and went for a jog around the neighbourhood. The jogging freedom fighter was a familiar sight in the neighbourhood. He told anyone who would listen that he wanted to be trim for the day freedom finally arrived.


When he got home his daughter was already up, early for a typical teenager. He decided to get a newspaper at the nearby Dawn Park shopping centre, but Nomakhwezi called him back as he was stepping out of the house.


‘You haven’t made up your bed,’ she scolded him. She had looked into his bedroom.


The two had special plans for the day. He’d had a punishing schedule of meetings and rallies over the previous three years, so time with his daughters was precious. He had asked Mondli Gungubele, a leading figure in the regional ANC and one of his protégés, who happened to live just four minutes away in Dawn Park, to accompany him into town to send his eldest daughter, Neo, some money. Hani had insisted that his three bodyguards take the weekend off. It was Easter. But he needed Gungubele to pretend to be his bodyguard and keep the crowds away. Hani was usually mobbed when walking in public. Then he and Nomakhwezi intended to go to a hair salon in the nearby Spruitview township. Then, in the afternoon, he planned to drive to Rand Stadium in Rosettenville to watch the South African national football team – recently welcomed back after years of exclusion from international competition as part of the ANC-inspired international sports boycott – play against the island nation of Mauritius.


But before all this, Hani had to get his morning fix: newspapers. Like Mandela and many of the ANC’s formerly exiled or imprisoned leadership, he read every available newspaper – across the language and political spectrum, even those diametrically opposed to his views (Mandela even read all the Afrikaans newspapers) – voraciously every morning. So, after he dutifully did his bed, he jumped into his car. He headed towards the shopping centre, away from a proud billboard elsewhere in the neighbourhood that declared: ‘Dawn Park: Where The Future Is’.





The killer’s red Ford Laser turned onto the quiet street just as Hani’s grey Toyota Cressida pulled out of the driveway. Waluś knew it was Hani’s car and suspected it was Hani himself at the wheel. He’d had a chance to study him a few days before when he had followed Hani to the Johannesburg Sun & Towers, a glitzy hotel in the city centre. The Pole had approached Hani but was stopped by bodyguards.


Now he followed as Hani drove, leisurely, to the row of shops a few streets away. The saloon entered the car park, found a parking space, and the man at the wheel stepped out and into a café.


Waluś parked his car. He did not get out but monitored Hani’s progress with his eyes. It was Hani, of that he was now certain. He watched him as he entered the café. Suddenly, Waluś felt thirsty, so he jumped out of his car, went into a nearby market and bought a can of Fanta Orange.


Waluś’s mind was in a whirl. Derby-Lewis’s words were whirring round and round in his head: Not this weekend. Too dangerous. And yet…


That was when Waluś says he made the decision: he, Janusz Waluś, was going to kill Chris Hani that day. Waluś jumped back into his car. After five trips checking out the area, he knew the neighbourhood well enough to know a shortcut back to Hakea Crescent. He drove fast, arriving at the Hani home a few minutes before the leader.


Not this weekend… The warning leapt, again, into his head. Too dangerous. Yet at the same time his justifications for the crime ran through his mind: ‘They will destroy this wonderful country. They will squander all that was built here by whites with such difficulty… everything here will be destroyed in the name of a multiracial utopia that will never work.’ He had to kill Hani. And with no bodyguards around, this was the best chance he’d ever have to do that.


He stopped on the side of the road near Hani’s house, pulled his gloves back on, tucked the Z-88 pistol into the back of his trousers and felt his belt hold it in place comfortably. Then he followed Hani, watched as his grey Toyota eased into the driveway of the rose brick house, enclosed by a 1.8-metre (6-ft) red brick wall. The gate was open. The freedom fighter, dressed casually in a tracksuit, got out of the car.


Waluś, too, got out, then threw his can of Fanta Orange away carelessly near the driveway. He walked towards Hani. The leader, oblivious to his stalker, approached his front door.


Hani’s daughter, Nomakhwezi, heard her father’s car as he turned off the engine. She rushed to the door and opened it. Soon, they would be off for their visit to the salon. She spotted the red car behind her father’s and saw the white man walking behind him. She heard the man say something. ‘He is greeting you,’ she said to her father, who was walking nonchalantly towards her.


The white man with the blue eyes in the blue shirt wasn’t greeting Hani. He’d had an attack of conscience. I don’t want to shoot him in the back, Waluś thought. So he had called out, ‘Mr Hani!’


Clutching two newspapers in his hands, Hani turned round. Waluś calmly walked towards him. He drew the gun from behind his back.


Assassins know that the most effective way to ensure accuracy is to aim for a large target, and this is what Waluś did. From a few metres away, he shot into Hani’s body first. The gun was so powerful that the bullet went through Hani’s body as well as the garage door behind him, hitting the interior wall.


Waluś shot again, this time into the chin. Hani fell over backwards, his body turning sideways as it hit the ground. Waluś ran towards his victim and stood over him. He aimed at the back of his head, at the area behind the ear, and pulled the trigger twice. Blood splattered on to his shoes.


He turned and walked slowly back to his car. The gun was smoking in his hand. He opened the door of the red Ford, got in and drove off towards the town of Boksburg.


Hani lay bleeding on the ground, clutching his newspapers to his chest. Nomakhwezi was screaming. Hani was dead.





Chris Hani’s lifeless body lay in front of his house for nearly three hours as word of his assassination spread across the world. Weeping comrades, harried journalists, and curious and frightened neighbours descended on Dawn Park. It is impossible to describe how devastating the sight of a lifeless Hani was to those of us who saw him – this man was a life force of the South African anti-apartheid struggle, full of wit and charm and an unswerving and deep commitment. He engaged almost everyone – from men and women at airports and in the streets to cabinet members – in debate on everything from the prospects of the national rugby team to the economy, literature and philosophy. When he was engaged he spoke fast, his words coming in a rat-tat-tat fashion like a machine gun, and he seemed to always have a smile at the ready to take the sting out of his words and those of his opponents and haters. When listening, he would squint his left eye ever so slightly, his attention fully on his interlocutor, as if the person speaking was the only one who mattered in the world.


Hani’s assassins had targeted him because no other leader in South Africa’s volatile political environment elicited as much love and hate, as much admiration and scorn, as the ANC’s most famous military commander. In villages and townships across the country, he was a hero. But to those reading the Afrikaans press (and certain parts of the English press), he was a villain, a Machiavellian plotter who wanted to turn South Africa into a mini Soviet Union, nationalise the land and build what they dreaded most – a place where the races mixed and coexisted as equals.


The real Chris Hani was far from this caricature. He had been born poor in Sabalele, a small, impoverished village close to Cofimvaba in the rural Eastern Cape. Mandela described the place as harsh: no running water, no electricity, no decent housing, inadequate health care and little formal education. And that was in 1993, not when Hani was born in 1942.


Hani was one of six children born to devout Catholics Gilbert and Nomayise Mary. Three of his siblings died in infancy. Hani’s father was constantly away working on construction sites or as a hawker in Cape Town while his mother raised the children off her subsistence farming. As a boy, Hani walked 10 kilometres (just over 6 miles) every morning to the nearest missionary school – and the same on the way back in the afternoon. He took the same trip every Sunday for Mass. By eight years old he was an altar boy in the Catholic church. He dreamt of becoming a priest, but his father, Gilbert, forbade it.


The altar boy developed an interest in the law, studying Latin and English at the famous University of Fort Hare. He was suspended after a political protest but managed to complete his degree through Rhodes University, to which Fort Hare had been affiliated, and graduated in 1962. It was perhaps inevitable that a bright, curious young man like Hani would be attracted to politics when he arrived at Fort Hare, a hotbed of political activity and the alma mater of ANC leaders such as Mandela. There, he ‘became openly involved in the struggle’, as he put it, getting ‘exposed to Marxist ideas and the scope and nature of the racist capitalist system’.


After graduation, Hani moved to Cape Town, where he clerked at the law offices of Schaeffer and Schaeffer while living in the Black township of Langa. In his spare time, he involved himself with the trade union movement. He was soon arrested under the Suppression of Communism Act. He skipped bail and escaped into exile. He received military training in the Soviet Union for a year and, on his return to the ANC’s exile headquarters in Zambia, was told to establish an ANC military training camp in Tanzania. In 1967, Hani was ordered to lead a contingent of ANC fighters called the Luthuli Detachment to support the Zimbabwe African People’s Union (ZAPU), then engaged in guerrilla warfare against the white minority regime of Rhodesia. A free Rhodesia (later Zimbabwe), went the ANC’s thinking, would be a front-line base to attack the apartheid government along the 225-kilometre (140-mile) border. It was here that Hani’s reputation as a heroic fighter was born. But, although his mission – known as the Wankie Campaign – twice forced the Rhodesian army to retreat and has become legend in ANC lore, it was largely a tragedy: half of the fifty ANC combatants who fought alongside Hani were killed. About ten of the combatants, including Hani, retreated to neighbouring Botswana after running out of food and supplies. They were arrested in Botswana and spent about a year in prison before being deported to Zambia.


Hani and his comrades were furious with ANC leaders for sending them into the bush without proper logistics and intelligence support. On his release from prison, he was one of seven Umkhonto we Sizwe (MK) members who penned a blistering critique of the ANC’s leaders in exile. They complained about secret trials and executions of ANC members in training camps, favouritism, political ennui and a plethora of other failings in a document that was to become known as ‘the Hani Memorandum’. All seven were expelled from the party, with some leaders calling for their execution. But their actions forced the ANC to hold its first major meeting in exile, the Morogoro Conference of April 1969, to reflect on what it had become and to chart a way forwards. Hani and his co-authors were vindicated by the meeting and were reinstated.


Hani’s star continued to rise. He travelled the world representing the ANC and was appointed to the party’s highest structure, as one of the twenty-two members of the National Executive Committee (which developed its strategy and tactics and managed its ministate of army, camps, finances, publicity, training, housing and logistics) in 1974. At thirty-two years old, he was one of the two youngest members. That year Hani moved to Maseru, the capital of Lesotho – a tiny country surrounded entirely by South Africa – where he established a recruitment network and infiltrated guerrillas into South Africa. He was soon appointed deputy commander and then, in 1987, chief of staff of MK, which brought even greater police attention and danger. There were several attempts to assassinate him in the seven years he was based in Lesotho, including a car bomb that went off in his absence and a plot that ended in the abduction and murder of his driver. In 1982, South African security police launched a cross-border army raid targeting a block of flats in Maseru. At least thirty ANC members were killed. Hani survived. He was not at home at the time.


The ANC pulled Hani back to Zambia, where he helped quell several mutinies in ANC camps there and in Tanzania and Angola. This was a dark time in the ANC’s history – and the biggest stain on Hani himself. About 90 per cent of the party’s troops in Angola rebelled against the leadership’s slowness in infiltrating them back into South Africa to pursue guerrilla strikes against apartheid, as well as terrible camp conditions, favouritism, orders to fight alongside the ANC’s ally and sponsoring the MPLA (Movimento Popular de Libertação de Angola, or Popular Movement for the Liberation of Angola) in Angola’s civil war, which was fighting the apartheid-backed Unita guerrilla movement led by Jonas Savimbi. The ANC responded by detaining many in prison camps, where conditions were terrible. Nineteen of the rebellion’s leaders – by Hani’s account – were executed. ‘Torture and deaths’, one Amnesty International report declared, ‘were routine’. Although much of the blame for the torture, detentions and executions in the camps was the work of his comrades in the ANC’s security and counter-intelligence departments, Hani – like many of the party’s senior leaders – knew of the horrors in the camps but did not do enough to stop violations quickly. The tragic irony is that the ANC ‘dissidents’claims are exactly the same as Hani’s in his memorandum from 1969.


And yet Hani’s popularity continued to grow among many new and old combatants, mainly because of his role in intensifying bombing and sabotage campaigns against the apartheid government in the 1980s. After numerous attacks on electrical substations and government buildings – mainly courts and police stations – MK cadres detonated a car bomb at the entrance to the South African Air Force headquarters in Pretoria in 1983, killing 19 people and injuring 217, many of them employees of the country’s notorious military intelligence department, which was located directly opposite. More attacks followed. ‘The bombs were to tell the whites: we can creep and crawl next to you. Be careful…,’ Hani explained, in the ANC’s defence. They had another purpose, too, he said: ‘demonstrating to our people that we are still around’.


By the late 1980s, the apartheid state was under siege: international sanctions were biting, the economy was limping badly, anti-apartheid protests and riots were a daily occurrence, and the country’s leaders had lost all their international allies – including the conservative US president Ronald Reagan and Britain’s Margaret Thatcher. F. W. de Klerk, who had been elected leader of the National Party, manoeuvred his recalcitrant predecessor, P. W. Botha, out of power in August 1989 after the man suffered a stroke and yet refused to resign as state president, even when his party asked him to. De Klerk came from the conservative wing of the National Party, but even these conservatives (unlike the extreme right) wanted an end to protests, detentions without trial, and endemic violence and fear that gripped the country. In September 1989, the National Party led by De Klerk won the whites-only general elections and immediately began freeing jailed anti-apartheid leaders such as Walter Sisulu in October. Mandela was freed and liberation organisations were unbanned in February 1990. Hani returned to South Africa that March, the last of the ANC’s leaders to be granted the provisional amnesty that allowed them free movement after decades of being on the police’s Most Wanted list. The following year, at the ANC’s first free conference since its banning in 1960, Hani received the highest number of votes from delegates – 94.7 per cent of the total – for a seat on the National Executive Committee. In December 1991, after Joe Slovo was diagnosed with cancer, Hani was elected the new general secretary of the South African Communist Party.


Charismatic, humble and thoughtful, Hani was far more like the man he was often contrasted with – Nelson Mandela – than most thought. The most striking similarity was that both were masters at studying their enemies before seducing them.


Hani had been caught by surprise when the ANC was unbanned and was not invited to take part in the initial secret conversations between the National Party and the ANC about the country’s transition to democracy before 1990. He was considered ‘public enemy number one’ by many whites, said the influential business daily newspaper Business Day, not so much because he was a fighter for freedom – which many Afrikaners understood and even respected due to their own folklore about fighting the British during the Anglo-Boer War – but because he was a communist who had overseen an extensive bombing campaign.


However, F. W. de Klerk’s eyes lit up when I asked him about his impressions of Hani. De Klerk told me about a meeting in February 1991 between the leaders of the ANC and the National Party. At this meeting, Hani’s first with government leadership after the government had caved in to ANC pressure to allow their nemesis to be part of its delegation, his target for seduction was De Klerk’s ‘principal strategist’, Gerrit Viljoen. The then seventy-five-year-old constitutional development minister was a respected senior member of the party and leading light in the Afrikaner community: he had at one point chaired the Broederbond, the secret, exclusively Afrikaner male organisation dedicated to the advancement of Afrikaner interests. Hani knew something else about Viljoen: although an Afrikaner through and through, Greek ran through his family’s blood. He studied classics at the University of Cambridge and earned a doctorate in classical philology at Leiden University before becoming a professor of Greek at Pretoria University.


Hani made a beeline for Viljoen during a tea break, and the two men fell into a deep, impassioned conversation about Sophocles’s tragedy Philoctetes. De Klerk, hearing about the discussion later, was astonished by his own blinkered view of Hani. It is a revealing anecdote about the stories apartheid made many of its adherents tell themselves about their enemies – in one fell swoop, their view of Hani as a savage terrorist was turned on its head by his education and erudition. That one conversation changed De Klerk’s perception of the man profoundly.


Archbishop Desmond Tutu condemned communism, but he loved Chris Hani, who floored him at their first meeting in 1990 by singing the famous Xhosa hymn ‘Lizalis’ idinga lakho, Thixo Nkosi yenyaniso’, composed by Tiyo Soga, the first Black South African to be ordained as a minister of religion. Hani, the altar boy blessed with a beautiful tenor, made the song fly.


By 1993, Hani, for many, wasn’t just one of the brightest, most politically astute and smartest of the ANC’s young leaders – he was very possibly the party’s next leader, the man to succeed Mandela. Mandela identified him as the young leader most like his younger self. He also recognised that a Hani who was not fully on board with the negotiations could potentially be the greatest threat to the peace talks by walking away in anger – taking a substantial chunk of the ANC’s radical wing with him. Mandela firmly believed in keeping his friends close – and his potential enemies even closer. He was fascinated by Hani, his chief of staff Barbara Masekela told me in an interview in Johannesburg. At the same time, he was aware of the younger man’s power and potential to scupper the process, wrote Stengel. Thus, Hani was both a friend and a potential foe.


The conundrum that Hani presented to Mandela was that the young leader did not think a commitment to peace meant relinquishing his militancy. In his view, one had to be ‘militant for peace’. He was quick to call out apartheid’s leaders for their complicity in the wave of political violence that had erupted across the country since 1990. He had no qualms with threatening to pull the ANC out of negotiations and resuming the armed struggle if the government did not abolish all repressive laws, such as the Internal Security Act (which gave the state broad powers to ban gatherings and detain people without trial), dismantle state-sponsored right-wing terror groups such as the Wit Wolwe, and dismiss the defence and police ministers who were accused by the ANC of continuing to run anti-ANC underground security structures that provided guns and other weapons to such groups as the Inkatha Freedom Party.


Yet, despite the tough talk, Hani was fully committed to peace negotiations. Two days before he was assassinated, Hani had appeared on television to defend the peace process. ‘The ANC has suspended military operations and related activities,’ he insisted. ‘This means it is not going to bring arms into this country in order to contribute to the momentum of peace.’


At a rally on 7 April, he criticised the second-largest liberation movement in South Africa, the Pan Africanist Congress of Azania (PAC), for its continued campaign of bombings and attacks on the state and white civilians.


Founded in 1959 by Black activists who opposed the multiracial alliances the ANC was forming with the South African Indian Congress and the white, largely communist Congress of Democrats, the PAC was now experiencing a moment of rejuvenation among radical Blacks. The PAC had refused to match the ANC’s renunciation of armed struggle. Its best-known slogan was ‘One settler, one bullet!’ Whenever it communicated with the government, it would flatly refuse to even discuss laying down arms, saying ‘the bullet cannot be abandoned until the ballot has been attained’. Its military wing, the Azanian People’s Liberation Army, only intensified its attacks on white civilian targets after the unbanning of all liberation movements in 1990. It declared 1993 ‘The Year of Great Storms’, threatening greater attacks on whites and government institutions alike. Five days before Hani’s assassination, the liberation army’s chief commander, Sabelo Phama, said he would ‘aim his guns at children – to hurt whites where it hurts most’.


Hani was incensed by this. ‘The ambushing of ordinary white kids and women along some of the highways is something that is not acceptable,’ he told his supporters at the rally. ‘And I am saying to these comrades here that everyone should be a combatant, a fighter, for peace.’ He spoke of transforming ANC self-defence units into street-based peace units akin to neighbourhood watch groups and encouraged listeners to become ‘ever bolder and more creative’ in building momentum for peace.


In the months before he was murdered, Hani had been demonised by the Afrikaans press. Six days before his murder the anticommunist Afrikaans newspaper Rapport, the country’s second-largest Sunday paper, alleged that Hani and Mandela’s former wife, Winnie – a member of the ANC’s National Executive Committee and an outspoken, formidable and militant leader in her own right – were plotting to form a ‘Black People’s Army’. Much of the domestic and foreign – particularly British – press coverage of Mandela and the ANC had from 1990 evolved from painting the party as a terrorist group (UK prime minister Margaret Thatcher once described the ANC as ‘a typical terrorist organisation’) to a reasonable grouping ready to do business with De Klerk. But the demonisation of Hani and a handful of other leaders – primarily Winnie – continued among many conservative outlets. Hani was painted as a violent, racist terrorist – an anti-Mandela hell-bent on race war despite the fact that the two men frequently stood at the same podiums and Hani had been part of the ANC negotiations team since 1991.


That depiction was far from the truth. Hani was committed to a better South Africa for all South Africans. In a Newsweek interview, he insisted: ‘Whether we like it or not, whites are South Africans like ourselves. They took power away from us and oppressed us, but we didn’t get into the struggle to destroy the white group. We want to convince whites that democracy is better than apartheid, that… they will continue having a better life and a more normal life. They won’t fear the Blacks they’ve feared for years.’


But Janusz Waluś and his co-conspirators wanted to keep white South Africans in fear – and use that fear to trigger a race war. So Waluś shot Hani four times, got into his red car and drove away from Hakea Crescent, leaving the lifeless body of Chris Hani in a pool of blood.


10.10 a.m.


Dawn Park, Boksburg, Johannesburg


Nothing about Retha Harmse would have marked her out as a hero. With her permed blonde bob and her high-pitched voice, she seemed like any ordinary married thirty-year-old white Afrikaner from Dawn Park, the sort who enjoyed sitting down for tea with her mother on a Saturday morning and had a passion for collecting and recycling plastic bags.


She worried about property values. When the Hani family moved into the neighbourhood in 1992, she and her husband, unlike most of their neighbours, thought that house prices might actually rise – not fall – because the communist leader had brought guards to protect him. They can help to protect the neighbourhood as well, she had thought at the time. Not the rest of her neighbours, though. The FOR SALE signs quickly started appearing.


Four years before the Hani family had moved into Boksburg, as the national government moved towards the ending of residential segregation, conservative Boksburg went the other way. The local council had voted to retain apartheid in its classic form, fencing in public parks and putting up EUROPEANS ONLY signs at amenities meant for whites. When the first cohort of middle-class Blacks such as Hani moved in, they found places such as Boksburg Lake, a popular picnic and tourism spot (tinged with some notoriety after a sensational 1964 murder that had dominated the headlines), designated for whites only.


It was no surprise, then, that when Hani and other Black families started moving in, some white people moved out. In the run-up to the last whites-only referendum, in which De Klerk asked the white population to vote yes to his peace and reform talks with Mandela (he won by 68.73 per cent) in 1992, the place was awash with posters depicting a confident Mandela looming over a kneeling, fawning De Klerk above a caption that blared: ‘Stem nee vir Mandela en sy Klerk’ (Vote no to Mandela and his Clerk).


Holy Saturday of 1993 was an ordinary day for Harmse. She was set on going to Shoe City, a popular chain where you could buy anything from boots to running shoes for bargain prices, when her mother unexpectedly popped in for morning tea. Her husband, Daan, was standing at the front garden gate that morning when he saw Hani jogging past. Daan knew his famous neighbour – they had first met when Daan was out on a walk. ‘I’m Chris,’ Hani had introduced himself, as he always did, always the first to hold out his hand. He had told Daan that he needed to run because he was getting fat, a regular refrain of his that year. He’d told journalists the same thing: he wanted to be fit and ready for freedom. Often Hani would be joined on his runs by another ANC leader, the Pretoria-Witwatersrand-Vereeniging (PWV) regional chairman, Tokyo Sexwale, who lived a few streets away.


When Hani would bump into Daan on his morning jogs, they would always greet each other good-naturedly. So, early that morning, when Daan saw Hani trotting past, he felt comfortable enough to shout: ‘Hey, Chris, lift those damn legs so that you run, man. You’re getting lazy!’ Hani, always ready with a smile, waved and carried on.


An hour or so later, tea with her mother done, Retha Harmse jumped into her car and headed down Hakea Crescent for her shoe shopping. It was just before 10 a.m. As she drove past the Hani home, she wondered where the family might be spending the Easter weekend. Maybe he is on holiday somewhere by the sea, she remembered thinking as she drove past, unaware that Daan had seen Hani jog by. It was a common misconception that ANC leaders were wealthy. Most, having been in exile or prison for most of their adult lives, had no savings. Those lucky enough to be in full-time ANC employment received a monthly salary of about R 2,500, the equivalent of a junior reporter. Most depended on handouts from benefactors or relatives. Few could afford a holiday. Hani’s wife, Limpho, worked in administration at a Johannesburg firm, supplementing their income. That was how they could afford to live in a middle-class suburb such as Dawn Park.


As she drove on down the road, Harmse suddenly remembered that she had forgotten to take plastic shopping bags with her. She needed to collect milk bottles in them on her way back from the shoe shop. She stopped, turned the car round and headed back home.


As she made her way back to her house, she saw a red car come to a stop in the street in front of Hani’s driveway. Inside the gate, in the driveway, was Hani’s familiar Cressida. The red car’s door opened and a tall, thin blond man got out, slightly bent, with his arms stretched out in front of him. He had a pistol in his hands, and she knew that he was getting ready to shoot.


There was something startling about how Harmse would later tell the story. ‘I know what a man looks like just before he is about to shoot,’ she told a famous Afrikaans journalist, Hanlie Retief. ‘I also have a pistol, I have learnt how to shoot.’


It was all in some sort of slow motion. Harmse could hardly believe what she was seeing. ‘When I came close, he pulled two shots,’ she recalled. ‘Clearly. Doof doof. It was half dark under the shed. I thought, maybe it is someone who is shooting at a crook, we have the armed response guys [private security] here.’


The blond man was not done. She watched in horror as he moved forwards, bent over and shot his victim twice more in the head. He is really shooting at someone! Harmse thought.


She drove away, slowly, still in shock. When she looked back, she saw the blond man getting back behind the wheel of the red car. He looked unhurried, relaxed. He reversed out from the Hani home. She wondered again if he was part of the neighbourhood’s private security firm but dismissed the thought: if he was security and had just shot dead a criminal, he would have stayed there and phoned the police.


I should get his registration number, she thought.


She put her foot on the brakes, stopped and put her car in reverse, looking at the red car to try to get its registration.


Then she drove towards her house – fast. Daan was at the fence, talking to a neighbour, Daniel Starling, as she drove in. She shouted at both men: ‘Remember PBX 231!’


Harmse ran straight into the house and called the police.


‘Somebody has just been shot at Chris Hani’s house!’ she said. It was exactly 10.10 a.m. when her call to the Boksburg police came through to Sergeant Dearham. As an emergency call, it was notable for the lack of urgency displayed by the police in responding.


‘Listen here,’ said Harmse, using a colloquial Afrikaans mode to denote urgency. ‘I’ve just driven past Chris Hani’s and someone has just shot a Black there.’


‘Just a second…’.


Harmse held on, listening as Dearham spoke to someone in the background.


‘Do you know anything coming from Chris Hani’s house?’ he was saying.


A Constable Van der Merwe answered: ‘No, if I knew it would be on the air already.’


Dearham spoke again, according to the transcript of the call, seemingly into the police radio frequency.


‘Has anyone else said anything about Chris Hani? Smal, are you busy with the Chris Hani story? In front of Chris Hani’s house a Black has been shot. Do you have Chris Hani’s house there?’


A Constable Smal answers: ‘Yes.’


Dearham returned to Harmse’s call.


‘We already got that,’ he said to her.


Harmse seemed disconcerted that someone had already called the shooting in. It had, after all, just happened minutes before.


‘Is it?’ she said, using a South African rhetorical question meaning ‘Is that so?’


She pressed on: ‘Because it just happened now.’


Dearham: ‘Yes.’


On the police radio, Constable Smal chipped in: ‘Dearham, just take a proper address there.’


Harmse continued to Dearham: ‘Oh, okay, I saw the car that was there. What happened there?’


‘We don’t know, ma’am. Can you tell me what is the correct address, because we don’t know what exactly is the address.’


Harmse gave him the address, explaining the one-street access to the three streets that made up the immediate area around her house and the Hanises’. Many of the streets, such as Hakea Crescent, had culs-de-sac and Deon was one of the few that proceeded out on to the main road towards the Boksburg city centre.


Then, without Dearham’s prompting, she started explaining what had actually happened. The news that someone had called the incident in seemed to have disconcerted her, putting an apologetic tone to her delivery.


‘I’m sorry… uhm… I saw a car there, actually I saw this white guy shooting this guy there. And he was in a car, a Ford red, a red Laser, and the reg PBX.’


Dearham: ‘Okay, what is this, what’s the registration number?’


‘PBX.’


‘P for Peter, B for Bertie…’.


‘Ja.’


‘X.’


‘Two hundred thirty-seven.’


‘Okay, ma’am, what’s your name?’


She gave him her last name. After that Dearham took the conversation off on a random, inexplicable note. As if there isn’t a man shot four times in his jurisdiction, Dearham then asked in Afrikaans: ‘Are you Afrikaans?’


‘Yes,’ answers Harmse.


‘Why are we speaking English, ma’am!?’


‘No, I don’t know. I just began speaking English. Listen here, I must go. My man will be here.’


She gave him her address and then, perhaps because of shock, returns to the shooting again.


‘What happened is that I drove past the…’.


‘Yes.’


‘I turned back to get something from the house. When I drove back, I saw this car stop and this fellow climbs out and shoots twice and then we see there is something on the ground and he shoots the person on the ground, too.’


‘Yes…’.


‘It’s all that I… and then I rushed home, and I looked very quickly what his car registration is.’


‘Very good work there, ma’am,’ says Dearham. ‘We appreciate it very much. Okay, ma’am. We will send the police so that they can get a statement from you.’


‘Okay.’


The call was three minutes long, ending at 10.13 a.m. Harmse got off the call and looked at her husband. The enormity of what had just happened seemed to hit them both.


‘If it was Chris Hani that was shot, there will be big trouble,’ Daan told his wife.


10.45 a.m.


Boksburg


Waluś’s assassination of Hani was swift and professional. The shots to the head killed the freedom fighter instantly.


In contrast, Waluś’s escape was completely amateurish. After he shot Hani he got back into his car and drove towards the Boksburg city centre at a leisurely speed – rather than getting on to one of the nearby motorways, where police generally did not set up roadblocks, and heading towards Pretoria.


As he neared downtown Boksburg twenty minutes later, a white Nissan Sentra with two uniformed policemen sped past him. He held his breath. They did not seem to have noticed him.


He sighed with relief.


As he entered the city there was a traffic jam ahead. The road had two lanes, and as he came to a stop he found himself side by side with the policemen in the Nissan Sentra. One of the policemen looked over and signalled to him to pull to the side of the road.


The two cops, Constables Du Toit and Olivier, were riding patrol in a squad car. They had heard the call out for a red car on the police radio. Waluś’s registration was not the same as the one they had heard – PBX 237T. However, this registration, PBX 231T, was close enough. Waluś pulled over.


One of the police officers walked over to his window.


‘Do you have a gun?’ the officer asked.


He answered yes. He showed them the gun, his unused second carry. The man looked at it, put his nose to its cold barrel and seemed satisfied. For the second time since the killing, he was to say later, he felt his fear of arrest receding. It was short-lived.


The policeman said he would like to search the car. The officer looked over at the passenger seat, then at the back seat, and spotted the bag behind the passenger seat. He riffled through it and found the Z-88. Keeping an eye on Waluś, he put the gun to his nose. It was still warm, still smelt of gunpowder.


Waluś gave up all pretense. ‘Well, guys,’ he said, when the second policeman came over. ‘What would you like to know?’


The two cops were confused by the man’s equanimity. His actions would remain confusing to those investigating the assassination for years to come: why had he driven his boss’s bright red car to a murder? A professional would have changed cars soon after leaving the scene of the crime, would have used a car that blended in rather than a highly visible red. And why had he done such a poor job of disguising the licence plates? Was he really that inept? Or had he wanted to be found?


The officers took Waluś to Boksburg Police Station. The arrest had happened within half an hour of the murder.


10.30 a.m.


Johannesburg


It was just before 11 a.m. and David O’Sullivan had his feet on his desk. He was nursing a slight hangover. O’Sullivan, twenty-seven years old, was supplementing his meagre salary as a law clerk with weekend shifts compiling and reading the news at one of only two independent radio stations in South Africa: Radio 702, in Johannesburg. It was, he figured, going to be yet another dull day in a long, empty holiday weekend. Then the switchboard phone rang.


A woman told him that her neighbour, Chris Hani, had just been shot and killed. O’Sullivan called the police spokesman, who told him that he knew nothing about it but would check on it. Then O’Sullivan called the ANC spokesperson, a woman called Gill Marcus. Marcus had left South Africa as a twenty-year-old university student and gone into exile with her parents in 1969. After twenty years of ANC anti-apartheid underground work, mainly in the UK, she had returned to South Africa in 1990 as part of the ANC’s Department of Information and Publicity. She had a reputation for being the first in the office and the last to leave: she confesses that ‘work is all I did’.


Sullivan gave her the story, but she was ‘somewhat unmoved’.


‘We get hoaxes like this all the time,’ she told him. But she promised to check it out.


There was no confirmation of the story by the time he went on air with the 11 a.m. bulletin, so good journalistic sense dictated that he should not include it in the line-up of stories he read out. Then, just as he finished the bulletin, police spokesman Frans Malherbe called.


O’Sullivan ran back to the recording studio, yelling at the DJ to find the ‘breaking news’ jingle. News of Chris Hani’s assassination reverberated like a thunderclap across the country and the world.


As O’Sullivan’s breaking news bulletin was going out on air, Hani’s neighbour, Noxolo Grootboom, a Xhosa television news anchor, was arranging for Hani’s daughter Nomakhwezi to be moved out of the neighbourhood. Grootboom had been standing in her bedroom when she heard the gunshots and then the screaming of a child. She had run to her son’s bedroom to check on him. Then she ran outside and saw Nomakhwezi screaming, coming towards her.


‘They have shot my daddy. I saw it, it was a white man,’ she cried. Grootboom got the distraught child to call the last person to speak to her father, the activist Mondli Gungubele, who was supposed to accompany Hani to send money to his daughter in Cape Town and then ride with him and Nomakhwezi to the hair salon.


10.30 a.m.


Dawn Park


Mondli Gungubele has the readiest, happiest and most generous smile of anyone I have ever met. It starts from the corners of his mouth and spreads across his face as he listens to you speak, as he prepares his answer, and when he starts speaking his smile seems to engulf the room. Yet when he recalls that day’s telephone call from Nomakhwezi, his face clouds over, wrinkles knot his high forehead and he looks pained.


When he answered the phone, the person and noises on the other end were unintelligible. He put the phone down. It rang again. This time it was intelligible, yet he wished it wasn’t. It was the voice of Nomakhwezi on the other end.


‘Uncle Mondli, please come, they have shot my dad.’


He went into shock, he says now. And he believes he was in shock for the rest of that week, doing what he needed to do like an automaton. That morning he had put on his favourite red polo shirt, a pair of blue jeans and trainers. He had a double date. Hani – his hero and leader – was going to call, and he needed to be ready. After that he was going on a picnic with his wife, Queendy.


Both Mandela and Hani liked to refer to people by their clan names, which is a sign of respect in many Black South African cultures. For example, Mandela is universally referred to by his clan name, Madiba. Gungubele’s clan name is Mthembu, and on the evening of Friday the 9th, he had received a call at home from Hani.


‘Mthembu,’ he said. ‘Tomorrow I am going to send money to Neo. Will you come along with me to the post office?’


There was no question of saying no. From the day they met, Hani had treated the thirty-six year old like his protégé – the way Mandela treated the fifty-year-old Hani. Gungubele was the lead ANC activist in the East Rand region, the hub of conservative Afrikaans-speaking industrial towns east of Johannesburg that included Boksburg, Benoni and the suburbs around them such as Dawn Park. Around these ‘white areas’ were the Black townships of Thokoza, Vosloorus and Katlehong, all of them racked by the worst political violence in the country, outside Natal on the east coast. The violence emanated from the male-only hostels for workers, built during apartheid, which sat at the edges of townships to house migrant labourers from the rural ‘homelands’. In the 1990s, these hostel dwellers were recruited or coerced by the Inkatha Freedom Party to sign up, and attacks on innocent township residents spiked – with evidence that apartheid secret police armed, trained and even directed these hostel dwellers in their attacks on the townships. Gungubele had risen to prominence by bringing along heavyweights – Hani and others – to the area to talk peace to angry communities.


Gungubele’s emotions were a maelstrom on hearing about Hani’s killing. First there was disbelief, then shock, then confusion. Then he was ‘overwhelmed by anger’, he told me.


Yet he still managed to operate. He remembers jumping into their first-ever family car, a white Toyota Corolla, and heading to Tokyo Sexwale’s house to pick him up. Sexwale was the chairman of the ANC in the PWV area, the region that encompasses South Africa’s powerful economic triangle of Pretoria (its administrative capital), the mining-dominated Witwatersrand (that includes Johannesburg) and the industrial complex along the Vaal River. Sexwale, recently released after thirteen years on Robben Island and a Hani friend and jogging mate, had not heard the news. Together they rushed to the Hani home, where they found their comrade dead on the red brick driveway. Nomakhwezi was taken to Sexwale’s home just a few streets away.


By then the news had spread like wildfire. In South Africa, news of Hani’s murder has become a ‘where were you when…’ moment. Every year on 10 April, people ask each other this question in a manner that places it on a plane of major historical moments such as the release of Mandela from prison in 1990.


‘It was like the sky had come down,’ said Pallo Jordan, a member of the party’s National Executive Committee and the political head of the Department of Information and Publicity.


When he received the news, he immediately started making calls, putting together the team that would conduct the ANC’s response to the crisis, including party spokeswoman Gill Marcus; a young former political prisoner and Christian activist called Carl Niehaus, who had become the ANC’s media manager; a former political prisoner and ANC speech-writer named Saki Macozoma; and a handful of others. One of the first calls he made was to Joel Netshitenzhe, the editor of the party journal, Mayibuye, and one of the party’s rising strategists.


Sitting in his flat in Hillbrow, having recently returned from exile, Netshitenzhe knew that this latest assassination was potentially even more calamitous than the Bisho and Boipatong massacres of the previous year. In Bisho, in September 1992, twenty-eight ANC supporters were killed when soldiers of the Ciskei homeland opened fire on 80,000 unarmed people led by Hani in a protest march. The protesters wanted the ‘independent’ homeland of Ciskei to be reincorporated into South Africa. The Boipatong killings the previous June had been worse. On the night of 17 June 1992, a group of about three hundred armed men from a steelworks hostel had attacked and killed forty-five residents of Boipatong, a township outside Vanderbijlpark, south of Johannesburg. Many residents insisted the attackers were supporters of the Inkatha Freedom Party (IFP), a Zulu nationalist party that was a rival to the ANC. Worse, witnesses claimed that the South African Police had escorted the killers into the township and out again, a charge the government denied.


This latest killing left Netshitenzhe feeling raw. What next would these forces try? he wondered. He assumed the government had to have been involved.


Within the ANC, there was still fear of a ‘Dingane Scenario’, even three years into negotiations with the government. The name referred to an incident when, in 1838, the Zulu king, Dingane, invited Afrikaner leader Piet Retief to the royal uMgungundlovu household to celebrate the signing of an agreement between the Zulus and the Afrikaners who had abandoned the British-controlled Cape Colony to establish their own settlement in the hinterland. Dingane, however, believed the treaty was a prelude to his being ousted by the Afrikaners, who had two years earlier defeated the Ndebele king, Mzilikazi, in order to take over his land in the interior of the country. At the royal gates Retief and his party were asked to ‘observe Zulu protocol’ by leaving their weapons at the door. Once inside, traditional beer was served and dancing commenced. Then, during the entertainment, Dingane ordered his men: ‘Bulalani abathakathi!’ (Kill the sorcerers!) Dingane’s men immediately surrounded Retief and his men. They took the captives up a hill and impaled all one hundred of them on their spears, ensuring slow and painful deaths. Now the party’s leaders asked themselves: had the ANC been lured into a similar trap?


For ANC activists who had for decades been pursued across the globe, kidnapped, tortured and jailed, the idea that the South African government suddenly wanted to cooperate with them seemed suspect. In February 1990, soon after the unbanning of liberation movements, the government’s top spy and one of the men who had started talks with Mandela in prison, Niël Barnard, travelled to Bern, in Switzerland, with a delegation from the National Intelligence Service to meet ANC leaders in exile, including Thabo Mbeki and Jacob Zuma. At the meeting, Mbeki informed the government delegation that some of his comrades believed the government wanted to use the occasion as a pretext for luring them back to South Africa, only to put them behind bars.


Now, with Chris Hani dead, Netshitenzhe said, ‘People started asking whether the whole exercise’ of trying to negotiate with the government ‘was worth the cost… [I]t dramatically affected confidence in the entire process’.


Ronnie Kasrils also had his suspicions. Like Hani, he was a senior member of Umkhonto we Sizwe and of the South African Communist Party central committee. He was playing football when he received the news of Hani’s murder. His wife appeared at the side of the field, ‘waving her arms and calling me’, he recalled, recounting the story he had told many times before. ‘But the ball was passed to me and I ignored her. Suddenly she was on the pitch and I thought she was crazy. “Chris has been shot”, she cried. She didn’t know if he was dead. She had come by car and we drove straight across Joburg to the Hani home – me in my football gear – to join the comrades keeping vigil there.’


It was not just his comrades. Journalists, residents, the police… Suddenly, all roads led to Dawn Park, and fear was in the air.


11.15 a.m.


Krugersdorp


Clive Derby-Lewis and his wife, Gaye, had been enjoying milk tart and tea in the garden of their friends the Venters when the phone rang.


The Derby-Lewises were leading members of the extreme, English-speaking white right wing. A third-generation white South African born in Cape Town in 1936, Clive Derby-Lewis grew up in the diamond-rich mining town of Kimberley, where Afrikaans was the main language of communication. He nevertheless cultivated an upper-class English accent, attending the prestigious Christian Brothers College and volunteering with the South African Citizen Force (a whites-only reserve component of the South African Defence Force, essentially an official citizen militia that could be activated at any time) for nineteen years while working as a chartered accountant. He also worked on his political career, joining the powerful National Party – which won the 1974 and 1977 whites-only national elections by 56 per cent and 65 per cent of the vote, respectively, defeating the liberal Progressive Federal Party – and becoming mayor of Bedfordview, a suburb of Johannesburg, in 1974. Derby-Lewis presented himself as the English-speaking face of South African racial conservatism, cultivating an image of himself as an upper-crust Brit, wearing cravats and patterned neckties implying membership in a private club or military regiment. He packed a gun as a matter of routine.


In 1982, Derby-Lewis and other hard-line adherents of apartheid split off from the National Party, which had become ‘too liberal’ because of reforms spearheaded by P. W. Botha. Botha’s reforms, implemented in 1983, ushered in a new constitution that created a tricameral parliament with separate houses for white, Indian and coloured South Africans but not one for Black African people. Derby-Lewis and his comrades formed the Conservative Party. Derby-Lewis ran for the conservative town of Krugersdorp’s parliamentary seat in 1987 although he lost. However, he still made it to parliament after he was directly nominated by the CP on the party list. He was, according to the leader of the anti-apartheid Progressive Federal Party, Harry Schwarz, the ‘biggest racist in parliament’ during the late 1980s.


He didn’t even try to hide his racism. In 1989, Derby-Lewis remarked in parliament that ‘if HIV/AIDS stops Black population growth it will be like Father Christmas’. At another time he lamented a report that a plane had to brake to avoid a Black man on the runway at the Johannesburg airport. ‘What a pity,’ he said. Even by the standards of the Conservative Party, Derby-Lewis’s racism was sometimes too much. ‘I think sometimes he became an embarrassment to us,’ Andries Beyers, a senior Conservative Party official, remembered. He once made his colleagues cringe when he ventured: ‘There are cultural differences between Blacks and whites and it is a fact that Blacks like to make babies.’
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